IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHARI DANIELS,

Petitioner, Case No. SC04-230

v.

L.T.No. 3D03-706

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Respondent.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF FOR PETITIONER

Dated: May 18, 2004

Max R. Price, Esq. Solms & Price, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 6701 Sunset Drive Suite 104 Miami, Florida 33143 (305) 662-2272

Florida Bar No. 651494

I.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Jurisdiction of this Court

This is an appeal from an Opinion and Order of the Third District Court of Appeal affirming the denial of petitioner's amended petition for attorneys fees under the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act ("FEAJA"), F.S.§ 57.111.

The Third District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the Fourth District Court on the controlling issue of law (A.005-006). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) (certified conflict).

B. Nature of the Case - Recovery of Attorneys Fees Under the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act

This appeal presents a narrow, but important, legal issue under the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act ("FEAJA"), F.S. 57.111. FEAJA was enacted by the Legislature to level the playing field in litigation between small businesses and the State. FEAJA enables small businesses to recover their attorneys fees in successfully defending against baseless litigation commenced by the State.

That is the case here. Petitioner, a licensed midwife, prevailed in her defense against a disciplinary proceeding brought by the State. Petitioner then filed a petition for attorneys fees under FEAJA which was dismissed. Petitioner now appeals from the dismissal of her FEAJA petition.

Conflict among the District Courts of Appeal

The present issue concerns the type of small business party who is entitled to recover attorneys fees under FEAJA. The District Courts of Appeal are in conflict over the controlling issue: whether a licensed professional (doctor, dentist, midwife, etc.), who holds a State-issued license in her individual name (as all individual licensees do), is automatically disqualified from recovering attorneys fees under FEAJA simply because the licensee has established a corporation (e.g., P.A., LLC., Inc., or S-corporation) within which to practice her profession.

The First and Third District Courts of Appeal take a restrictive view. They require that a licensee hold a professional license in the same capacity in which she practices her profession. They hold that a professional licensee's use of a corporation to practice her profession automatically disqualifies the licensee from recovering attorneys fees under FEAJA for a successful defense against a disciplinary complaint — regardless of how frivolous the disciplinary proceedings were. These Courts reason that where the license is issued in a capacity (individual) which is different from the capacity in which the licensee practices his/her profession (corporate), the licensee is automatically disqualified from a FEAJA recovery

when defending against baseless disciplinary proceedings.

Daniels v. State of Florida, Dept. of Health, So.2d, 2004

Fla.App.LEXIS 179, 29 Fla.L.Weekly D 209, (Fla. 3d DCA Jan. 14, 2004); Florida Real Estate Comm. v. Shealy, 647 So.2d 151 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal takes the contrary position. It holds that, in light of the liberal compensatory purpose of FEAJA, an individual licensee who is prosecuted frivolously by the State, and who defends successfully, is not automatically disqualified from recovering attorneys fees under FEAJA simply by forming a corporation for her professional practice. The Fourth District recognizes that many licensees establish solely-owned professional service corporations and that, for FEAJA purposes when defending against baseless disciplinary proceedings brought by the State, the licensee is the practical equivalent of her practice. Neither would exist without the other.

Also FEAJA expressly covers professional practices in all business forms -- individual, partnership and corporate. The Fourth District underscores the compensatory purpose of FEAJA and recognizes that the Legislature's inclusion of professional service corporations within the class of protected parties in FEAJA would be surplusage if individual licensees were automatically barred from a FEAJA recovery simply because they

had formed a professional service corporation. Albert v. Dept. of Health, Bd. of Dentistry, 763 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 4 DCA 1999);

Ann & Jan Retirement Villa, Inc. v. Dept. of Health & Reh. Serv., 580 So.2d 278 (Fla. 4 DCA 1991).

Petitioner submits that the Fourth District's decisions in Albert and Ann & Jan are correct. These cases further the liberal and compensatory purpose of FEAJA and give meaning to all parts of FEAJA, unlike the harsh doctrine in the First and Third Districts. This Court should quash the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case.

C. Importance of Issue to Licensed Professionals

In this State, tens-of-thousands of licensed professionals have established corporations through which they practice their professions. Doctors, dentists, attorneys, accountants, architects, midwives (present petitioner) and numerous other licensed professionals use corporations as the business vehicles for their practices, for numerous reasons -- pensions, liability, income tax benefits, etc. All are legitimate reasons for using the corporate form of business; all are authorized by State law. The Third District Court's opinion seriously impacts the tens-of-thousands of licensed professionals who practice in corporate form. It disqualifies them from ever recovering attorneys fees under FEAJA for baseless State

complaints seeking professional discipline. This is a blanket disqualification under the Third District Court's opinion.

This is not the Legislature's intent. As shown below, the Legislature expressly intended to cover these licensed professionals under FEAJA by expressly authorizing FEAJA recovery for professional practices in both individual and corporate form which prevail against baseless State actions. F.S.§ 57.111(3)(d)(1)(a,b) (including both individual corporate professional practices in definition of small business party entitled to recover under FEAJA). There would be including professional practices no purpose in in individual and corporate form within FEAJA's coverage unless the Legislature intended to cover professional licensees practice in corporate form (pp. 16-18, infra).

As shown below, the Third District Court of Appeals' opinion undermines this important FEAJA protection for Florida's tensof-thousands of licensed professionals who use the corporate form. Many, if not most, of them own their corporations as sole shareholders, using the corporate form solely for business reasons. The blanket disqualification from FEAJA coverage has a serious and adverse impact on Florida's tens-of-thousands of licensed professionals practicing in corporate form and, as shown below, is inconsistent with the liberal and compensatory purposes of FEAJA (pp. 11-14, infra).

D. De Novo Review in this Court

The present appeal turns on an issue of statutory construction under FEAJA and is reviewed <u>de novo</u> on appeal.

Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So.2d 7 (Fla. 2000) (statutory construction is subject to de novo review).

E. Course of Proceedings before the Agency / Facts

*

Petitioner is a licensed midwife. As authorized by State law, she practices her profession through a corporation of which she owns 100% of the stock.

On September 20, 2001 the Department of Health issued an administrative complaint against Ms. Daniels claiming she had violated Fla. Stat. § 467.203(1)(f). Daniels vigorously disputed the complaint and requested a formal administrative hearing. On March 13, 2002 the Department referred the case to the Division of Administrative Hearings for assignment to an Administrative Law Judge.

Because the pertinent facts concern the proceedings before the administrative agency, they will be addressed as part of the discussion of the proceedings below.

The Department filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal on June 28, 2002. The Department's voluntary dismissal made Daniels the prevailing party for FEAJA purposes. F.S. § 57.111(3)(c)(3) (voluntary dismissal makes licensee the prevailing party under FEAJA).

On August 5, 2002, Daniels timely filed a petition for attorneys fees under FEAJA, seeking to recover the attorneys fees she incurred in her successful defense against the administrative complaint.

The Department moved to dismiss the petition which was granted on November 20, 2002, with leave to file an amended petition for attorneys fees.

On December 2, 2002, Daniels filed her amended petition seeking the attorneys fees she incurred (A.007). Again the Department moved to dismiss which Daniels opposed.

On January 2, 2003, the ALJ granted the Department's motion and requested proposed final orders. On February 10, 2003, the ALJ issued a final order dismissing Daniels's amended petition for attorneys fees under FEAJA (A.011-026).

The ALJ held that Daniels was not a "small business party" entitled to recover attorneys fees under FEAJA because Daniels practiced midwifery as an S-corporation generally instead of as a professional service corporation (P.A.) (A.011). The ALJ followed the Fourth District Court's precedent in Albert and Ann

<u>& Jan</u> which allowed individual licensees who practice under professional service corporations to recover fees under FEAJA, but held that Daniels did not qualify for fees under <u>Albert</u> or <u>Ann & Jan</u> because she used an S-corporation which was not a professional service corporation (A.011). In short, the ALJ created a distinction between professional service corporations and S-corporations generally for purposes of FEAJA fees, allowing individual licensees to recover fees if they practiced their professions under the former but not the latter (A.011).

Because Daniels practiced under an S-corporation but not a professional service corporation, the ALJ denied Daniels's amended petition for attorneys fees under FEAJA (A.026).

Daniels timely appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. The Third District affirmed the dismissal on a different ground. The Third District did not follow the ALJ's distinction between professional service corporations and S-corporations generally, but instead adopted the distinction drawn by the

Neither the case law nor legislative history supports the ALJ's distinction between professional service corporations and S-corporations generally. Instead, the difference between the First and Fourth District Courts turns on whether the licensee used the corporate form at all -- with the First District disqualifying all licensees from recovering FEAJA fees if they used any corporate form (P.A. or other S-corporation), Shealy, supra, while the Fourth District allows such recovery. Albert, supra; Ann & Jan, supra. No cases turn on the distinction, adopted by the ALJ here, between professional service corporations and S-corporations generally.

First District between sole-proprietor and corporate professional practices, allowing FEAJA recovery for the former but not the latter. The Third District in <u>Daniels</u> rejected the Fourth District's line of cases in <u>Albert</u> and <u>Ann & Jan</u> and held that Daniels was automatically disqualified from recovering attorneys fees under FEAJA simply because she practiced her profession in corporate form (A.005). The Third District certified conflict with the Fourth District's decisions in Albert and Ann & Jan (A.006).

Daniels timely sought review in this Court under Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) (certified conflict) (A.001).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

FEAJA's remedial and compensatory purpose, combined with its expansive definition of the parties entitled to recover attorneys fees, compels the conclusion that a licensed professional is not automatically disqualified from recovering attorneys fees simply by practicing through a corporation. Such a narrow view of FEAJA would contravene its broad remedial purpose, would overlook the regulatory reality that professional licenses are held by individuals (not corporations), and would be inconsistent with FEAJA's expansive definition of small business parties who are entitled to recover attorneys fees. Indeed, FEAJA expressly authorizes recovery of attorneys fees by a professional practice regardless of whether it does business in an individual (sole proprietorship) or corporate (P.A./other corporation) capacity.

In addition, adherence to the "corporate form" -- the rationale used by the First District -- is inconsistent with FEAJA's broad remedial purpose. FEAJA expressly transcends the corporate form and confers upon professional practices of every business form -- sole proprietorship, partnership and corporation -- its full benefits. FEAJA's remedial purpose -- levelling the playing field in litigation between small businesses and the State -- is no less applicable to licensees

who practice in small professional service corporations than to licensees who practice as sole proprietors.

This Court should approve the doctrine of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Albert</u> and <u>Ann & Jan</u> and should quash the decision of the Third District in the present case.

This Court should reverse the dismissal of petitioner's amended petition for attorneys fees under FEAJA.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Legislature intended the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act to be interpreted broadly and liberally, in line with its compensatory and remedial purpose

FEAJA is a remedial statute. It is intended to level the playing field in litigation between the State, with its massive resources, and small business parties of limited means. It allows small business parties who have been successful in defending against the State to recover their attorneys fees if there was no basis for the State action. The statute on its face defines its broad remedial purpose:

"Because of the greater resources of the State ... [t]he purpose of this section is to diminish the deterrent effect of ... defending against governmental action by providing ... an award of attorneys fees and costs against the State."

F.S. § 57.111(2).

Small business parties, as defined in the statute, are entitled to recover attorneys fees after successfully defending against a baseless State proceeding. F.S. § 57.111(3)(d).

B. FEAJA's expansive definition of small business party -- expressly covering professional practices in both individual and corporate form -- is inconsistent with the First and Third District's requirement that Licensure and business be in the same capacity

The First and Third Districts in <u>Shealy</u> and <u>Daniels</u> impose an arduous requirement on a FEAJA recovery by licensed

professionals. They require that the licensure must be in the same capacity as the business in order for the licensee to recover attorneys fees under FEAJA after a baseless disciplinary complaint. Thus under the First and Third District's doctrine, a licensee who is disciplined individually (professional license in the individual's name) but practices through a corporation is, for that reason alone, automatically disqualified from a FEAJA recovery -- regardless of how frivolous the disciplinary proceeding is.

There is no reason for this requirement. The liberal and remedial purposes of FEAJA reject any mystical requirement of symmetry in licensure and ownership. FEAJA was designed to level the playing field in litigation between the State with its massive resources and the small business owner of limited means. The statute makes this clear on its face. F.S. § 57.111(2) ("diminish the deterrent effect of ... defending against governmental action") (quoted more fully at p. 12, supra).

For this remedial purpose, it does not matter whether the professional licensee practices in a sole proprietorship or small professional service corporation. One form of small business operation is no less in need of a level playing field with the State than the other.

For purposes of FEAJA, the licensee and wholly-owned corporation through which he/she practices are one and the same.

FEAJA does not involve the usual corporate liability issues such as piercing the corporate veil or individual-vs.-corporate liability. Rather, FEAJA reflects a remedial policy of giving small businesses, in whatever form, a fair shake in litigation against the State. The Fourth District recognized that, for this limited purpose under FEAJA -- giving small businesses a fair shake against the State -- the individual licensee and his/her wholly owned professional corporation are essentially "one and the same entity". Ann & Jan, supra, 580 So.2d at 280.

The functional interdependence of licensee and professional corporation supports this view. The survival of professional corporation depends upon the individual's license. If the license is revoked or suspended, the corporation Thus the defense of the 100%-owner's no longer may operate. license in the disciplinary proceeding is integral to the business operation of the professional service corporation. latter cannot exist without the former. They are inextricably This tight interdependence of corporate business and individual license rejects any notion that the former (corporate form) precludes a FEAJA recovery for defense of the latter (professional license in individual name).

Indeed, the State regulatory boards have no jurisdiction over professional corporations. They have jurisdiction only over the license and over the individual person to whom it is

issued. The corporation itself does not receive professional license; the individual practitioner does. issued licenses professional are only to individual practitioners, not their corporations, a disciplinary proceeding may not be commenced against the corporation as such. A blanket requirement of symmetry in licensure and business form for recovery of fees under FEAJA -- the doctrine in the First and Third Districts -- disregards the lack of licensure to corporations as entities. It results in wholesale disqualification of individual licensees who practice their professions in corporate form. This blanket disqualification does not mesh with FEAJA's broad remedial and compensatory purpose.

Nor is it consistent with FEAJA's express language. FEAJA contains a broad definition of "small business parties" who are entitled to recover attorneys fees after a successful defense against baseless litigation brought by the State. statutory definition expressly includes professional practices in all forms -- sole proprietorship, partnership, 57.111(3)(d)(1)(a,b) corporation. F.S. § (professional practices in all forms included in "small business party" under FEAJA). FEAJA's pervasive coverage of all business forms in its entitlement to an attorneys fees recovery is inconsistent with the restriction imposed by the First and Third Districts against

awarding attorneys fees to licensees who practice in corporate form.

The decision below also leaves a bizarre gap in FEAJA coverage which is inconsistent with its broad remedial purpose. As mentioned above, professional disciplinary proceedings may be brought only against the individual licensee. Corporations as such are not subject to professional discipline. The decision below leaves the owners of professional corporations without recovery under FEAJA for the successful defense of their licenses, regardless of how vital the owner's license is to the business, and regardless of how frivolous the disciplinary proceeding. It is difficult to conceive that the Legislature intended such a bizarre gap in statutory coverage, after its pervasive extension of FEAJA's benefits to professional practices in all business forms.

C. The First District's reliance on "corporate form" improperly injects the technicalities of corporate liability into the remedial framework of FEAJA and is inconsistent with FEAJA's remedial purpose

The line of First District cases holds that an employee or owner of a corporation may not recover under FEAJA because to do so would violate the "corporate form". Shealy, supra, 647 So.2d at 152 ("disregard of the corporate form"); Dept. of Prof. Reg. v. Toledo Realty, Inc., 549 So.2d 715, 716 (Fla. 1 DCA 1989);

<u>Thompson v. Dept. of Health</u>, 533 So.2d 840, 841 (Fla. 1 DCA 1988).

These First District cases not only clash with the more understanding approach of the Fourth District in <u>Albert</u> and <u>Ann & Jan</u> (p. 3, <u>supra</u>), but also overlook the broad remedial purpose of FEAJA -- to level the litigation playing field for small businesses of every form in litigation against the State. FEAJA's broad definition of "small business party" and express inclusion of <u>all forms</u> of professional practice -- individual, partnership and corporate -- are inconsistent with the First District's narrow insistence on the preserving the "corporate form".

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