SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHARI DANIELS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-230 L.T. NO. 3D03-706

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, BOARD OF MIDWIFERY,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

Pamela H. Page Section Head/Appellate Section Florida Bar No. 0250481 DOH Bureau of Health Care Prosecutorial Services Unit 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin #C-65 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3265 (850)488-0716; FAX (850 488-1855

Dana Baird
Assistant General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0225495
Department of Health
Bureau of Health Care
Prosecutorial Services Unit
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin #C-65
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3265
(850)488-4721; FAX (850)488-1855

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal properly found in the case below that Daniels is not a "small business party" as defined by section 57.111(3)(d) of the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act because the administrative complaint was filed against Daniels individually rather than against her corporation.

The Florida Equal Access to Justice Act defines a "small business party" in parts here pertinent as follows:

- 1. a. A sole proprietor of an unincorporated business, including a professional practice, whose principal office is in this state, who is domiciled in this state, and whose business or professional practice has, at the time the action is initiated by a state agency, not more than 25 full-time employees or a net worth of not more than \$2 million; or
- b. A partnership or corporation, including a professional practice, which has its principal office in this state and has at the time the action is initiated by a state agency not more than 25 full-time employees or a net worth of not more than \$2 million;
- § 57.111(3)(d)1. a. and b., Fla. Stat. Unlike other attorney's fee provisions for administrative proceedings, the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act does not include individuals. Similarly, contrary to the federal Equal Access to Justice Act, the state counterpart, the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act, does not include individuals.

When the words of a statute are clear and unambiguous, the words do not need any canon of statutory construction other than plain meaning, which is:

. . . a status above that of any other canon of construction, and often vitiates the need to consider any of the other canons. Therefore, if the plain meaning rule is a canon of construction, it is the largest caliber canon of them all.

CBS Inc. v. Primetime 24 Joint Venture, 245 F.3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2001).

Thus, the Third District Court of Appeal properly found that Daniels is not a "small business party" as defined by the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act because the administrative complaint was filed against Daniels individually, rather than against her corporation.

Should the Court disagree with the Third District Court of Appeal's interpretation of the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act, the case would need to be remanded to the Administrative Law Judge for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether Daniels was a "small business party" within the meaning of the Act and, if so, whether the Department was substantially justified in bringing the disciplinary action.

ARGUMENT

I. AN INDIVIDUAL HEALTH CARE LICENSEE WHO IS DEFENDING A DISCIPLINARY ACTION INITIATED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IS NOT A "SMALL BUSINESS PARTY" WITHIN THE PLAIN MEANING OF SECTION 57.111(3)(d), FLORIDA STATUTES.

The standard of review is whether the Third District Court of Appeal erroneously interpreted the law, and if so, whether a correct interpretation requires a particular action. See 120.68(7)(d), Fla. Stat.; Metropolitan Dade County v. Dep't of Environmental Protection, 714 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998). Therefore, the standard of review is de novo. Florida Board of Medicine v. Florida Academy of Cosmetic Surgery, Inc., 808 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

In the instant case, the Third District Court of Appeal reviewed an appeal from the Division of Administrative Hearings. The Administrative Law Judge denied Daniels' amended complaint for attorney's fees under the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act, section 57.111, Florida Statutes (2002), based on the finding that Daniels was not a "small business party" as defined by section 57.111(3)(d) of the Act. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, reasoning:

A review of the record shows that the administrative complaint was filed against the petitioner individually, rather than her corporation.

<u>Daniels</u> at 868 So. 2d 551. This decision was consistent with the holdings of the First District Court of Appeal in analogous cases.

Petitioner Shari Daniels contends that the definition of a "small business party" includes herself individually as a licensed health care practitioner midwife against whom Respondent Department of Health had initiated an Administrative Complaint based on an alleged violation of a statutory disciplinary standard. Respondent contends that this definition does not include Petitioner.

The plain meaning of the phrase "small business party" does not include actions initiated against individuals in their individual capacities:

- (d) The term "small business party" means:
- 1. a. A sole proprietor of an unincorporated business, including a professional practice, whose principal office is in this state, who is domiciled in this state, and whose business or professional practice has, at the time the action is initiated by a state agency, not more than 25 full-time employees or a net worth of not more than \$2 million; or
- b. A partnership or corporation, including a professional practice, which has its principal office in this state and has at the time the action is initiated by a state agency not more than 25 full-time employees or a net worth of not more than \$2 million;
- § 57.111(3)(d)1. a. and b., Fla. Stat. Had the Legislature wanted to include individuals within the Act's coverage, it could have done so by simply including the term "individuals"

along with the phrase "small business party." Had the Legislature wanted to include only those individuals licensed by the State of Florida, it could have done so by simply adding the phrase "individuals licensed by the state."

If a statute is clear and unambiguous, the courts must presume that the Legislature "said what it meant and meant what it said." CBS Inc. v. Primetime 24 Joint Venture, 245 F.3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2001). See also Hankey v. Yarian, 755 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 2000), where the Florida Supreme Court stated:

It has long been a rule of statutory construction that statutes must be given their plain and obvious meaning and courts should assume that the legislature knew the plain and ordinary meaning of words when it chose to include them in a statute.

See also Department of Insurance v. Florida Bankers Association,
764 So. 2d 660, 663 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), quoting Nicoll v.

Baker, 668 So. 2d 989, 990-91 (Fla. 1996):

When the words of a statute are plain and unambiguous and convey a definite meaning, courts . . . must read the statute as written, for to do otherwise would constitute an abrogation of legislative power.

Under the two other attorney's fees provisions for section 120.57 administrative proceedings, the Legislature chose to include recovery for individual parties. See §§ 57.105 and 120.595, Fla. Stat.

Section 120.595, Florida Statutes, provides in part:

120.595 Attorney's fees.-

(1) CHALLENGES TO AGENCY ACTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 120.57(1).-

* * *

(b) The final order in a proceeding pursuant to s. 120.57(1) shall award reasonable costs and a reasonable attorney's fee to the prevailing party only where the nonprevailing adverse party has been determined by the administrative judge to have participated in the proceeding for an improper purpose. (Emphasis added).

The Florida Legislature thus authorized attorney's fees for all parties, individual or other, who prevailed in an administrative proceeding where the nonprevailing adverse party was determined to have participated in the proceeding for an improper purpose.

Section 57.105, Florida Statutes, provides for attorney's fees to the prevailing party in administrative proceedings under chapter 120, Florida Statutes, under specified conditions:

57.105 Attorney's fee; sanctions for raising unsupported claims or defenses; service of motions; damages for delay of litigation.

- (1) Upon the court's initiative or motion of any party, the court shall award a reasonable attorney's fee to be paid to the <u>prevailing party</u> in equal amounts by the losing party and the losing party's attorney on any claim or defense at any time during a civil proceeding or action in which the court finds that the losing party or the losing party's attorney knew or should have known that a claim or defense when initially presented to the court or at any time before trial:
- (a) Was not supported by the material facts necessary to establish the claim or defense; or
- (b) Would not be supported by the application of thenexisting law to those material facts.

However, the losing party's attorney is not personally responsible if he or she has acted in good faith, based on the representations of his or her client as to the existence of those material facts. If the court awards attorney's fees to a claimant pursuant to this subsection, the court shall also award prejudgment interest.

* * *

(5) In administrative proceedings under chapter an administrative law judge shall award a reasonable attorney's fee and damages to be paid to the prevailing party in equal amounts by the losing party and the losing party's attorney or qualified representative in the same manner and upon the same basis as provided in subsections (1)-(4). Such award shall be a final order subject to judicial review If the losing party is an pursuant to s. 120.68. agency as defined in s. 120.2(1), the award to the prevailing party shall be against and paid by the agency. A voluntary dismissal by a nonprevailing party does not divest the administrative law judge of jurisdiction to make the award described in this subsection. (Emphasis added).

The Florida Legislature thus authorized attorney's fees for all parties who prevailed in an administrative proceeding where the nonprevailing party knew or should have known that the claim or defense was not supported by the material facts or by the application of the then-existing law to the material facts. Again, the Florida Legislature included coverage for all parties to a proceeding regardless of whether they are individual, corporate or other.

In <u>Department of Insurance</u>, <u>Florida Bankers Association</u>, supra, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed a denial of

an award of attorney's fees pursuant to section 120.595(2), Florida Statutes, to the bank that was represented by a non-attorney. The Court reasoned that nothing in the statute or rule authorizes an award of attorney's fees to non-attorneys. The courts may not add words that are otherwise omitted from the statute.

The Florida Equal Access to Justice Act was patterned after the federal Equal Access to Justice Act, 5 U.S.C.A. Section 504, which reads in part:

- (a)(1) An agency that conducts an adversary adjudication shall award, to a <u>prevailing party</u> other than the United States, fees and other expenses incurred by that party in connection with that proceeding
- (b)(1) For the purposes of this section -

* * *

(B) . . . "party" means a party, as defined in section 551(3) of this title¹, who is (i) an individual whose net worth did not exceed \$2,000,000 at the time the adversary adjudication was initiated, or (ii) any owner of an unincorporated business, or any partnership, corporation, association, unit of local government, or organization, the net worth of which did not exceed \$7,000,000 at the time the adversary adjudication was initiated, and which had not more than 500 employees at the time the adversary adjudication was initiated. . . . (Emphasis added).

¹ 5 U.S.C.A. Section 551(3) provides: ". . . 'party' includes a person or agency named or admitted as a party, or properly seeking and entitled as of right to be admitted as a party, in an agency proceeding, and a person or agency admitted by an agency as a party for limited purpose;"

When the Legislature drafted the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act, it did not adopt the language in the federal counterpart which expressly covered of an individual.

II. THE FLORIDA EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT IS AN ATTORNEY'S FEES PROVISION, AND THEREFORE SHOULD BE STRICTLY CONSTRUED.

[Restatement of Issue A of Initial Brief]

The standard of review is whether the Third District Court of Appeal erroneously interpreted the law, and if so, whether a correct interpretation requires a particular action. See 120.68(7)(d), Fla. Stat.; Metropolitan Dade County v. Dep't of Environmental Protection, 714 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998). Therefore, the standard of review is de novo. Florida Board of Medicine v. Florida Academy of Cosmetic Surgery, Inc., 808 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

Daniels asserts that the Florida Legislature intended the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act to be interpreted "broadly and liberally, in line with its compensatory and remedial purpose." (I.B. 13). The Florida Equal Access to Justice Act is an attorney's fees provision. It is a general and well established rule of law that attorney's fees provisions are in derogation of common law, and therefore should be strictly construed. Willis Shaw Express, Inc. v. Hilyer Sod, Inc., 849 So.2d 276 (Fla. 2003); Dade County v. Pena, 664 So. 2d 1131

(Fla. 1995); Gershuny v. Martin McFall Messenger Anesthesia Professional Ass'n, 539 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 1995).

Even if the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act should be interpreted broadly, it would still not permit the interpretation Daniels asserts because the plain meaning of the statute will not support such an interpretation.

III. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE PHRASE "SMALL BUSINESS PARTY" TO ASCERTAIN THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF THE FLORIDA EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT AND EFFECTUATE ITS PURPOSE.

[Restatement of Issue B of Initial Brief]

In this case, unless otherwise stated, the issues presented are issues of law. The standard of review is whether the Third District Court of Appeal erroneously interpreted the law, and if so, whether a correct interpretation requires a particular action. See § 120.68(7)(d), Fla. Stat.; Metropolitan Dade County v. Dep't of Environmental Protection, 714 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998). Therefore, the standard of review is de novo. Florida Board of Medicine v. Florida Academy of Cosmetic Surgery, Inc., 808 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

Daniels' argument rests on the following assertions: 1)
the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act covers small businesses;
2) health care practitioners' small businesses are dependent on

the health care practitioner's license; therefore, 3) the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act covers health care practitioner licensees. This is not so. In logic, if A equals B, and B equals C, then A may also be said to equal C. For the above-stated hypothesis to be logical, licensed health care practitioners must be small businesses, which of course is not true.

The Legislature's intent in enacting the Florida Equal Access to Justice Act is written into the statute itself:

The Legislature finds that certain persons may be deterred from seeking review of, or defending against, action because unreasonable governmental of civil actions and administrative expense of proceedings. Because of the greater resources of the state, the standard for an award of attorney's fees and costs against the state should be different from the standard for an award against a private litigant. The purpose of this section to diminish the is deterrent effect of seeking review of, or defending against, governmental action by providing in certain situations an award of attorney's fees and costs against the state. (Emphasis added).

§ 57.111(2), Fla. Stat. Although Daniels argues that licensees are permitted to recover attorney's fees under section 57.111, the argument ignores the plain text of the statute. Section 57.111 makes no mention at all of licensees. Nor does the statute specifically address situations in which a licensee owns or operates a business. Although the statute's coverage

"includ[es] a professional practice," such language does not confer standing upon Daniels as an individual.

Although Daniels argues that the First District Court of Appeal incorrectly viewed the statute too narrowly, the court kept the statute in its proper context. The distinction made by the court is sensible. The First District Court of Appeal in Florida Real Estate Commission v. Shealy, 647 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), which is directly on point, appropriately distinguished Ann & Jan Retirement Villa, Inc. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 580 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), because in Ann & Jan Retirement Villa, Inc., the Administrative Law Judge granted attorney's fees to the corporation, not the individual. Ann & Jan Retirement Villa, Inc., at 281.

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